
 
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO 
 

 
Civil Action No.  1:14-cv-01534-LTB 
 
PARKER EXCAVATING, INC., a Colorado corporation,  
 

Plaintiff, 
v. 
 
LAFARGE WEST, INC., a Delaware corporation,  
MARTIN MARIETTA MATERIALS, INC., a North Carolina corporation,  
NICK GUERRA,  
ALF RANDALL, in his individual capacity and  
ROBERT SCHMIDT, in his individual capacity 
  

Defendants. 
______________________________________________________________________ 

 
PARKER EXCAVATING, INC.’S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANTS ALF RANDALL AND 

ROBERT SCHMIDT’S MOTION TO DISMISS 
______________________________________________________________________ 

 

Comes now Elliot Fladen of Schlueter, Mahoney and Ross, P.C. on behalf of Plaintiff 

Parker Excavating, Inc. (“PEI”) in response to the Motion to Dismiss (“MTD”) (Doc. 22) 

by Defendants Alf Randall and Robert Schmidt (collectively the “County Defendants”).  

Because PEI has stated claims upon which relief can be granted and for which the 

statute of limitation has not run, PEI respectfully requests that the MTD be denied. 

I. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND 
 
Speaking in general terms, this case involves a road construction project to improve 

the roadway and drainage system along South McCulloch Boulevard in Pueblo County 

from Highway 50 to John Powell Blvd., (the “Project”).  (See Amended Complaint ¶¶ 1, 
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13, 16, 17)  At the invitation of Defendants Lafarge and Nick Guerra (“Guerra”), PEI – a 

Native-American owned, by race, business – subcontracted with the prime or general 

contractor for the Project, Defendant Lafarge West, Inc. (“Lafarge”),  to handle traffic 

control, excavation, and rotomilling on the Project.  (See Amended Complaint ¶¶ 13, 16)  

This contract was at first oral, but later a written contract between Lafarge and PEI was 

executed (the “Contract”, attached to the Amended Complaint as Exhibit 4).  (See 

Amended Complaint ¶¶ 17, 20, 21) 

As alleged in Plaintiff’s First Amended Complaint (the “Amended Complaint”), once 

PEI began work on the Project, the County Defendants, who were each Pueblo County 

officials, began not only treating PEI in an unprofessional manner, but also retaliated 

against PEI when PEI made complaints about racial discrimination.  (See Amended 

Complaint ¶¶ 6, 7, 25-38, 43-50)  Ultimately, PEI alleges that Guerra – acting on behalf 

of either Lafarge, or its successor in interest Defendant Martin Marietta Materials, Inc. 

(“Martin Marietta”) – terminated the Contract.  (Amended Complaint ¶¶ 38-50)  The 

Amended Complaint alleges that such termination was purportedly premised on failure 

to have a bond, a reason expressly illegitimate under the Contract for termination, but in 

reality the contract was terminated based upon direction from the County in retaliation 

for a complaint of racial discrimination as shown by a December 12, 2011 Letter from 

Alf Randall (the “December 12, 2011 Randall Letter”, attached to the Amended 

Complaint as Exhibit 13). (See Amended Complaint ¶¶ 21-24, 36-38, 43-50)  The 

Amended Complaint also alleges that after the Contract was terminated Randall has 
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continued to retaliate against PEI by preventing the County from doing business with it.  

(See Amended Complaint ¶ 72) 

PEI initially brought suit against Martin Marietta, Lafarge, and Fidelity in Pueblo 

County District Court Case No. 2012CV665 (the “State Court Action”) on a variety of 

claims related to the breach of its contract.  During the course of the State Court Action, 

Lafarge and Martin Marietta produced documents, including the December 12, 2011 

Randall Letter, which revealed PEI had strong claims for violations of Section 1981 

against Martin Marietta, Lafarge, Nick Guerra, and the County Defendants.  As a result, 

PEI filed this federal court action (the “Federal Court Action”) on May 30, 2014.   

Over the course of the month following the Federal Court Action’s commencement, 

the parties to the State Court Action were able to agree to a tolling agreement (the 

“Tolling Agreement”, attached to the Amended Complaint as Exhibit 22), and pursuant 

to the terms of said Tolling Agreement PEI moved to dismiss the State Court Action.  

Also pursuant to said Tolling Agreement and dismissal, PEI filed the Amended 

Complaint in this court on June 30, 2014, bringing its claims in the State Court Action 

before this Court.   

On August 26, 2014, the County Defendants filed a MTD based on Plaintiff’s 

purported failure to state a claim for which relief could be granted as well as and on the 

County Defendants’ affirmative defense of statute of limitations.  Because (a) PEI has 

not only made sufficient allegations, but also provided sufficient evidence to show that 

its claims are plausible on their face; and (b) has pled such claims within the relevant 

limitations periods, PEI respectfully requests that this Court deny the County 
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Defendants’ MTD.  In the alternative, if the Court believes that PEI needs to plead with 

even greater specificity than that which it provided in its Amended Complaint, PEI 

respectfully requests the opportunity to further amend its Complaint.   

 
II. ARGUMENT 

 
The County Defendants’ Motion is divided into several sections which are numbered 

in a confusing fashion.  The Argument Section is entitled “Motion” and is preceded by a 

Roman Numeral “V”.  (See MTD at 6)  Roman Numeral VI appears to have been 

intended to be a small “a” and a subsection of Roman Numeral V.  (See MTD at 6-8) 

This Roman-Numeral-Numbered VI section deals with the County Defendants’ claim, 

addressed in Section II.C of this Response below, that PEI may not bring an individual 

action against the County Defendants under Section 1981 as all such action must be 

brought through Section 1983 using Section 1981 as a source of rights.  This is followed 

by a small “b” section which is the County Defendants’ Argument, addressed by PEI in 

Section II.B of this Response below, that the statute of limitations has passed for which 

to bring a Section 1981 action through Section 1983.  (See MTD at 8-10)  This small “b” 

subsection is then followed by another “VI” section, which appears to have been 

intended to be a small “c” subsection of the Argument Section.  (See MTD at 10-12)  

This last subsection, claims that PEI has failed to plead sufficient facts to survive a pre-

discovery motion for dismissal, apparently under Fed. R. Civ. Pro. 12(b)(6) and is 

addressed in Section II.A of this Response, below. 

 
A) Plaintiff Has Plead Facts Sufficient To State A Claim Against The County 

Defendants 

Case 1:14-cv-01534-LTB-MJW   Document 30   Filed 09/26/14   USDC Colorado   Page 4 of 24



 

 5 

 
1) Legal Standard On A Fed. R. Civ. Pro. 12(B)(6) Motion 

 
"[A] complaint in an employment discrimination lawsuit [need] not contain specific 

facts establishing a prima facie case of discrimination."  Swierkiewicz v. Sorema N.A., 

534 U.S. 506, 508 (2002).  Instead, it need only contain a short statement of the claim 

showing that the pleader is entitled to relief. Id. (quoting Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a).  That said, 

to survive a motion to dismiss, a complaint must contain sufficient factual matter, 

accepted as true, to "state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face."  Free Speech v. 

Fed. Election Comm’n, 720 F.3d 788, 792 (10th Cir. 2013) (citing Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 

U.S. 662, 678 (2009); Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007)). "A claim 

has facial plausibility when the plaintiff pleads factual content that allows the court to 

draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged."  

Id. (citing Iqbal and quoting Twombly).  In evaluating a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, 

courts may consider not only the complaint itself, but also attached exhibits, and 

documents incorporated into the complaint by reference.  Id. (quoting Smith v. United 

States, 561 F.3d 1090, 1098 (10th Cir. 2009)).   

 
2) Plaintiff Has Alleged Specific Allegations Against Randall And Schmidt To 

Survive A Motion To Dismiss 
 

The County Defendants concede that the Plaintiff's Complaint, with 92 allegations – 

not counting the claims for relief – and 22 exhibits attached to it, was “well written”.  

(MTD at 11).  However, the County Defendants contend that it is unclear from the 

Amended Complaint what actions Schmidt and Randall took that were in violation of 
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Plaintiff’s rights under Section 1981.  For the reasons spelled out below, this contention 

is in error. 

a) The County Defendants Have Failed To Comply With District Of Colorado 
Practice Standard(IV)(L)(1)(c) 

 
As an initial matter, to the extent that the County Defendants allege that PEI has 

failed to state a claim under Fed. R.Civ. Pro. 12(b)(6), they have failed to comply with 

the Local Practice Standard (IV)(L)(1)(c) (the “Standard”) and on that basis alone their 

Motion should be stricken.  According to the Standard, a movant who is asserting a Fed. 

R.Civ. Pro. 12(b)(6) motion “shall clearly enumerate each element that movant 

contends must be alleged but was not” (emphasis added).  

The portion of the MTD seeking dismissal on 12(b)(6) grounds is all of three 

paragraphs (See MTD at 10-12).  The first paragraph contains the County Defendant’s 

recitation of the legal standards for reviewing a 12(b)(6) motion.  While the Second and 

Third Paragraphs state several things that the Complaint did not allege,1 those 

paragraphs do not clearly enumerate each element of PEI’s Section 1981 claims, 

whether through Section 1981 alone or Section 1981 through Section 1983, that were 

required to be, but purportedly were not, present.   As such, it is difficult for PEI to 

discern what the County Defendants appear to claim was lacking in PEI’s Section 1981 

claims.  PEI assumes that a desire to prevent such difficulties was the exact reason the 

                                                
1 See Motion at 11-12, noting that: (a) there was “no contract between PEI and either Randall or Schmidt”; 
(b) that “Lafarge or Martin Marietta [and purportedly not the County Defendants] choose to break 
Plaintiff’s subcontract”; (c) that there was purportedly no allegation that [the direction by Guerra on behalf 
of Lafarge] was inappropriate or that Randall or Schmidt directed Lafarge to write those letters”; and (d) 
there was purportedly “no allegation that Randall (or Schmidt) directed any of the actions which Plaintiff 
alleges are a violation of its § 1981 rights” 
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Standard was put into place, and for that reason alone, the County Defendants’ motion 

should be denied.  

b) PEI Has Sufficiently Alleged Facts Against Schmidt and Randall To Survive A 
Motion to Dismiss  

 
As described above, the County Defendants have failed to comply with the Standard 

requiring that they both state the elements of a Section 1981 violation and also 

specifying which element they claim PEI has not met.  The following will demonstrate 

how PEI in fact has alleged a valid Section 1981 Claim as well as how PEI sufficiently 

pled violations of Section 1981 via the first three claims for relief as set forth in the 

Amended Complaint.  

i) Case Law Related To Plaintiff’s Claims That Randall And Schmidt 
Violated Its Rights Protected Under Section 1981. 

 
42 U.S.C. § 1981 (“Section 1981”) protects against racial discrimination in making 

and enforcing contracts.  42 U.S.C. § 1981(a).  Racial discrimination includes 

discrimination on the basis of being of the Native American race.  Torgerson v. City of 

Rochester, 643 F. 3d 1031, 1052-53 (8th Cir. 2011) (en banc) (noting that Section 1981 

allows a claim of discrimination based on Native American status so long as stated as a 

claim based upon race); see also, Carnell Constr. Corp. v. Danville Redevelopment & 

Housing Authority, et. al., 745 F.3d 703, 715 (4th Cir. 2014) (holding that “a minority-

owned corporation may establish an ‘imputed racial identity’ for purposes of 

demonstrating standing to bring a claim of race discrimination under federal law”).   

The Supreme Court, however, gave the phrase “making and enforcing contracts” a 

narrow construction in Patterson v. McLean Credit Union, 491 U.S. 164 (1989), by 
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holding that Section 1981 did not apply to conduct after a contractual relationship had 

been established.  Subsequently, Congress passed the Civil Rights Act of 1991, which 

modified Section 1981 by protecting “the making, performance, modification, and 

termination of contracts, and the enjoyment of all benefits, privileges, terms, and 

conditions of the contractual relationship.”  Civil Rights Act of 1991, Pub. L. No. 102-

166, § 101, 105 Stat. 1071, codified at 42 U.S.C. § 1981(b); see also Jones v. R. R. 

Donnelley & Sons Co., 541 U.S. 369, 383 (2004) (stating that "[t]he 1991 Act overturned 

Patterson by defining the key 'make and enforce contracts' language in § 1981 to 

include the 'termination of contracts, and the enjoyment of all benefits, privileges, terms, 

and conditions of the contractual relationship.'").  After the 1991 Amendment, to 

establish a prima facie case for discrimination under Section 1981, a Plaintiff need only 

show (1) that the plaintiff is a member of a protected class; (2) that the defendant had 

the intent to discriminate on the basis of race; and (3) that the discrimination interfered 

with a protected activity as defined in § 1981.  Hampton v. Dillard Dep't Stores, Inc., 247 

F.3d 1091, 1102 (10th Cir. 2001). 

Section 1981 also authorizes claims for retaliation, in the event that one person 

takes action against another for asserting the right to substantive contractual equality 

provided by Section 1981.  CBOCS West, Inc. v. Humphries, 553 U.S. 442, 446 (2008).  

The test for establishing a prima facie case of retaliation under Section 1981 is the 

same as that used for Title VII.  Somoza v. Univ. of Denver, 513 F.3d 1206, 1211 (10th 

Cir. 2008).  As such, in order to have a prima facie case, PEI must demonstrate that (1) 

it engaged in a protected activity; (2) it suffered an adverse action as a result of such 

Case 1:14-cv-01534-LTB-MJW   Document 30   Filed 09/26/14   USDC Colorado   Page 8 of 24



 

 9 

activity; and (3) there is a causal connection between the protected activity and the 

adverse action.  Id. at 1212.  Independent Contractors, such as Parker are included 

within this protection and thus can state a claim under it for retaliation.  See Allstate 

Sweeping, LLC v. Black, 706 F. 3d 1261, 1265 (10th Cir. 2013) (stating that 

independent contractors can state a claim under Section 1981).  In fact, participation in 

the retaliatory action with a retaliatory motive, and not direct contractual privity, is all that 

is required for such claims.  See, e.g., Calderon v. Safehouse Progressive Alliance for 

Nonviolence, Civil Action No. 11-cv-02536-PAB-MEH, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 70323, at 

*32-38, (D. Colo. May 17, 2013) (allowing Section 1981 claim to proceed against a 

Defendant who was not in privity with Plaintiff); Smith v. Bray, 681 F.3d 888, 897-99 (7th 

Cir. 2012).  Moreover, an informal complaint of racial discrimination is a protected 

activity.  See O’Neal v. Ferguson Constr. Co., 237 F. 3d 1248, 1255 (10th Cir. 2001).  

With this legal background and as described below, PEI has pled sufficient 

allegations to raise a reasonable inference that the County Defendants retaliated 

against it and that Randall discriminated against it, with each being violations of Section 

1981. 

ii) PEI’s Retaliation-Based Claims Against Randall and Schmidt 

PEI’s first and third claims for relief are for retaliation against Randall and Schmidt 

both through Section 1981, alone, and also Section 1981 through Section 1983.2  PEI 

has clearly alleged that it is a company with a racial identity of being a Native American 

Company.  (See Amended Complaint ¶ 10).  It has alleged that it made multiple 

                                                
2 A typographical error has the Amended Complaint stating that the claim is Section 1983 through Section 1981, 
which is backwards.  If the Court requires it, the Plaintiff requests leave to file an errata to correct this clerical error.  
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complaints of discrimination, including: (a) a July 12, 2011 telephone complaint to 

Pueblo County Commissioner John Cordova (the “Cordova Complaint”) (Amended 

Complaint ¶ 28, evidenced by Exhibits 5 & 6 to the same); (b) a November 3, 2011 

letter complaining of discrimination  (the “November 3, 2011 Letter”) (Amended 

Complaint ¶ 34, evidenced by Exhibit 8 to the same); and (c) a December 7, 2011 letter 

again complaining of discrimination  (the “December 7, 2011 Letter”) (Amended 

Complaint ¶ 36, evidenced by Exhibit 9 to the same).   

Following these complaints of discrimination, PEI has alleged that it suffered 

adverse actions including, but not limited to, the following: (a) As a result of the Cordova 

Complaint, PEI was forced to choose – by reasonable inference at Randall and 

Schmidt’s order  – between signing two apology letters or being removed from the 

Project; (b) As a result of the Cordova Complaint, “PEI was excluded from weekly 

construction meetings, put on by the County and/or Lafarge which the other 

subcontractors, Lafarge officials, and County officials attended” (Amended Complaint ¶ 

34); (c) Following the Cordova Complaint and the November 3, 2011 Letter, Randall 

and Schmidt screamed at, cursed at and assaulted PEI personnel (Amended Complaint 

¶¶ 32, 33, 35).  It is also alleged that the Company that succeeded PEI on the Project, 

Work Zone, was treated more professionally with regards to these items on account of 

PEI’s race.  (Amended Complaint ¶¶ 62, 63); and (d) that Randall has prevented the 

County from doing business with PEI on account of its complaints of racial 

discrimination (Amended Complaint ¶ 72). 
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The clearest example of retaliation in the case at bar, as alleged by PEI occurred in 

response to the December 7, 2011 Letter.  First, PEI alleged that the December 7, 2011 

Letter was transmitted to Randall through Defendant Nick Guerra.  (Amended 

Complaint ¶ 37)  Second, it alleged that the very next day the letter was given to 

Guerra, and presumably Randall, Guerra began seeking bids for an alternative 

contractor to replace PEI on the Project.  (Amended Complaint ¶ 38)  Third, PEI alleges 

that within three business days of PEI transmitting the letter to Randall through Guerra, 

Randall wrote a letter to Guerra (the “December 12, 2011 Randall Letter”, attached to 

the Amended Complaint as Exhibit 13) which (a) complained that PEI official Greg 

Parker “accuse[d] [Randall’s] staff of discrimination” (emphasis added); (b) stated 

that “this conduct is not acceptable for contractors performing work on projects for 

Pueblo County, nor for their subcontractors” (emphasis added); and (c) directed Guerra 

to take “whatever steps you deem appropriate to assure that this conduct does 

not continue.” (emphasis added)  (Amended Complaint ¶ 43)  Fourth, the very day that 

the December 12, 2011 Randall Letter was dated, Guerra wrote a letter to PEI stating 

that its Contract would be terminated for failure to have a bond, although the Contract 

expressly did not require such a bond.  (Amended Complaint ¶ 44)  (emphasis added).  

Fifth, the Complaint alleges that on or about December 17, 2011, ten days subsequent 

to the December 7, 2011 Letter and five days subsequent to the December 12, 2011 

Randall Letter, PEI had its contract terminated.  (Amended Complaint ¶¶ 48, 49, & 50).  

Based on the above, it is clear that PEI made multiple allegations that it complained 

of racial discrimination.  Further, PEI has alleged that it suffered adverse actions as a 
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direct result from these complaints that would dissuade others from making complaints 

of racial discrimination. Additionally, the exhibits attached to the Amended Complaint 

directly show that Randall was involved in fostering such adverse actions against PEI.  

Given the Amended Complaint’s allegations that Schmidt not only supervised Randall 

but was involved in treating PEI poorly, the Court can make the reasonable inference 

that Schmidt was also involved in said retaliation.  Moreover, almost immediately after 

such complaints, PEI suffered significant adverse actions, which included, but were not 

limited to, being reprimanded and forced to sign apology letters after the Cordova 

Complaint and removed from the Project after the December 7, 2011 letter.  For these 

reasons, PEI submits that it I has not only alleged, but demonstrated through evidence 

cited above, Randall and Schmidt have violated Section 1981.  

iii) PEI’s Discrimination-Based Claims Against Randall 

In its second claim for relief, The Amended Complaint sets forth a claim of racial 

discrimination against Randall.  Such claim is made both through Section 1981 and also 

Section 1981 through Section 1983. Through such claim, Randall is alleged to have 

discriminated against PEI on the basis of its race as a Native-American company, 

throughout the course of the Project.  Such discrimination can be seen through the 

following allegations contained in the Amended Complaint: (a) From its commencement 

of participation in the Project, PEI informed the County that Randall’s planned method of 

controlling traffic on the Project would lead to significant safety issues, but instead of 

remedying these issues Randall treated PEI in an unprofessional manner due to Race 

(Amended Complaint ¶¶  25, 26, 28); (b) that throughout the Project Randall treated PEI 
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unprofessionally, on the basis of Race, as delineated in Amended Complaint Paragraph 

33 and that such treatment was different than how Randall had treated a non-Native 

American Company as alleged under Amended Complaint Paragraphs 62 and 63; (c) 

that Randall handled PEI change orders more stringently than how he handled change 

orders from non-Native American Companies (Amended Complaint ¶¶ 64-70); and (d) 

that Randall prevented the County from doing business with PEI after the Project on 

account of PEI’s status as a Native American, by race, Company (Amended Complaint 

¶ 72).      

For these reasons, PEI has pled sufficient factual content that would allow this Court 

to draw the reasonable inference that Randall discriminated against PEI on the basis of 

race.  Accordingly, there is no legal basis for the County Defendants’ position that the 

Complaint should be dismissed, under Fed. R. Civ. Pro. 12(b)(6) for failure to state a 

claim against them.     

B) Plaintiff’s Claim Against The County Defendants Was Brought Within 
Limitations Pursuant to Section 1983 
 
The County Defendants contend that because Plaintiff’s Third Claim for Relief (and 

Second Claim For Relief in part) were brought not just under Section 1981, but under 

Section 1981 through Section 1983, that the general two year statute of limitations of 

Section 1983 is applicable.  The County Defendants evidently ignore that the four year 

statute of limitations set forth in 28 U.S.C. § 1658 (“Section 1658”) is utilized for a 

Section 1983 cause of action, when its basis is an alleged violation of Section 1981.  As 

such, the County Defendants’ argument must fail.   
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Section 1983 does not create substantive rights, instead it creates only a remedy for 

violations of rights secured by federal statutory and constitutional law.  See Gallegos v. 

Denver, 984 F.2d 358, 362 (10th Cir. 1993).  Historically, when plaintiffs attempted to 

have violations of federal statutory and constitutional law remedied through Section 

1983, Section 1983 would borrow statute of limitations from the forum State’s personal 

injury limitations’ period due to the lack of an applicable federal limitations statute.  See, 

e.g., Wilson v. Garcia, 471 U.S. 261, 279-80 (1985).  However, in such cases, courts 

are first to look to federal law "so far as such laws are suitable to carry the same into 

effect," and only fill gaps with state law if no suitable federal rule exists and doing so 

would not be "inconsistent with the Constitution and laws of the United States." 42 

U.S.C. § 1988; Wilson at 267, (1985); see also Johnson v. Ry. Express Agency, Inc., 

421 U.S. 454, 462 (1975) (listing cases where "no specifically stated or otherwise 

relevant federal statute of limitations" existed and thus the controlling limitations period 

was the most appropriate one provided by state law).   

  After Wilson, the Supreme Court noted in Jones v. R.R. Donnelley & Sons Co., 541 

U.S. 369 (2004), that the practice of borrowing state statute of limitations created a host 

of problems for federal courts, including: (a) choice of law issues between the “the law 

of the forum or that of the situs of the injury”; (b) “uncertainty for both plaintiffs and 

defendants, as a plaintiff alleging a federal claim in State A would find herself barred by 

the local statute of limitations while a plaintiff raising precisely the same claim in State B 

would be permitted to proceed”; (c) forcing courts to “grapple with questions such as 

whether federal or state law governed when an action was ‘commenced’”; (d) 
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“complicat[ing] the development of federal law on the question when, or under what 

circumstances, a statute of limitations could be tolled.”  Id. at 378-79.  These “problems 

led both courts and commentators to ‘call upon Congress to eliminate these complex 

cases that do much to consume the time and energy of judges but that do little to 

advance the cause of justice, by enacting federal limitations periods for all federal 

causes of action.”  Id. at 379-80 (internal citations omitted).  

Congress “answered that call by creating the Federal Courts Study Committee [the 

“Committee”], which recommended the enactment of a retroactive, uniform federal 

statute of limitations.“  Id. at 380.  Ultimately, this led to Congress’ passage on 

December 1, 1990, of a catch-all federal limitations statute which provides that "a civil 

action arising under an Act of Congress enacted after the date of the enactment of this 

section may not be commenced later than 4 years.”  Section 1658(a).  Accompanying 

the final bill that became Section 1658(a) was a Committee-produced report (the 

“Report”).  See Jones at 380.  As the Supreme Court noted in Jones, the Report 

demonstrated that “Congress was keenly aware of the problems associated with the 

practice of borrowing state statute of limitations, and that a central purpose of [Section] 

1658 was to minimize the occasions for that practice.”  Id.  

Although Section 1981 originally was enacted in 1870, the Civil Rights Act of 1991 

(the “1991 Amendment”) subsequently amended it.  See Harris v. Allstate Ins. Co., 300 

F. 3d 1183, 1192 (10th Cir. 2002).  As described above, the 1991 Amendments made 

clear that the term “make and enforce contracts” in Section 1981 (“Section 1981(a)”) 

included not only the making of contracts but also the “termination of contracts and the 
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enjoyment of all benefits privileges, terms and conditions of the contractual making, 

performance, modification, and termination of contracts, and the enjoyment of all 

benefits, privileges, terms, and conditions of the contractual relationship” (“Section 

1981(b)’”).     

In Jones, the Supreme Court determined that because Section 1981 is in part an 

“Act of Congress enacted after” Section 1658(a)’s enactment, the applicable statute of 

limitations is Section 1658(a)’s four-year period.  Compare Jones at 383-84 with Section 

1658(a).  In Harris, the 10th Circuit followed the Supreme Court and ruled that claims 

brought under Section 1981(b) would be governed by the four-year statute of limitations 

of Section 1658 and not an analogous state statute of limitations.  Id.  Similarly, 

because the retaliation claim brought through Section 1981 arises from post-contract 

formation conduct, and was thus eliminated by Patterson before the 1991 Amendment 

resurrected it, the retaliation claim also has a four-year statute of limitations under 

Section 1658.  Johnson v. Lucent Techs., Inc., 653 F.3d 1000, 1006-1007 (9th Cir. 

2011); Calderon v. Safehouse Progressive Alliance for Nonviolence, Civil Action No. 11-

cv-02536-PAB-MEH, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 70323, at *15, (D. Colo. May 17, 2013)  

(stating that “[w]rongful termination and retaliation claims asserted under 42 U.S.C. § 

1981 are subject to a four-year statute of limitations”); Getachew v. 7-Eleven, Inc., Civil 

Action No. 11-cv-02421-REB-MJW, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 136204, at *9, (D. Colo. Aug. 

8, 2012) (analyzing retaliation claim brought pursuant to Section 1981 as subject to a 

four-year statute of limitations period); Carrero v. Robinson, , Civil Action No. 05-cv-

02414-MSK-CBS, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 40805, at *27-28, (D. Colo. June 5, 2007) 
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(holding retaliation claim brought under Section 1981 had a four-year statute of 

limitations).  

This leaves the separate question of whether Section 1658’s limitations period would 

also apply to a Section 1981 claim brought through Section 1983.  In City of Rancho 

Palos Verdes v. Abrams, 544 U.S. 113 (2005), the Supreme Court addressed this 

question in dicta, stating:  

The statute of limitations for a § 1983 claim is generally the applicable state-
law period for personal-injury torts.  On this basis, the applicable limitations 
period for respondent's § 1983 action would presumably be one year.  It may 
be, however, that this limitations period does not apply to respondent's § 1983 
claim. In 1990, Congress enacted [Section 1658], which provides a 4-year, 
catchall limitations period applicable to "civil action[s] arising under an Act of 
Congress enacted after" December 1, 1990. . . .  Since the claim here rests 
upon violation of the post-1990 [Telecommunications Act of 1996] would 
seem to apply. 

 
Id. at 123, n.5 (analyzing, in a claim for a Telecommunications Act of 1996 violation 

brought through Section 1983 so as to obtain attorney fees and monetary damages, the 

appropriate statute of limitations) (internal citations omitted).  This dicta has been 

followed as an explicit holding in at least one Court of Appeals Decision and the vast 

majority of district court cases that have confronted the issue.3   

                                                
3 See Baker v. Birmingham Bd. of Educ., 531 F.3d 1336, 1338-39 (11th Cir. 2008) (holding that 
the four year statute of limitations applied to a claim for violation of Section 1981 brought 
through Section 1983 because “[w]ere it not for the 1991 Act, [the] complaint would fail to state 
a claim under § 1983” and to construe Section 1658 not to apply to such claims “would be 
inconsistent with the Supreme Court's interpretation of that statute as set forth in Jones”);  
Gallentine v. Hous. Auth., 919 F. Supp. 2d 787, 815 n. 10 (E.D. Tex. 2013) (finding that a four-
year-limitations period applied to Section 1981(b) claims brought through Section 1983 pursuant 
to Section 1658); Crump v. Montgomery County Bd. of Educ., Case No.: PWG-12-3378, 2013 
U.S. Dist. LEXIS 153310, at *13, 14 n. 2, (D. Md. Oct. 24, 2013) (noting that parties’ had 
“correctly” agreed that Plaintiff’s claims had a four-year-limitations period “regardless of 
whether brought under [Section] 1981 or [Section] 1983”); Hills v. Borough of Colwyn, 978 F. 
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Similarly, this same District has repeatedly held that the four-year statute of limitation 

will be utilized for  Section 1981 claims brought through Section 1983 under the 1991 

amendment.  See Padilla v. City & County of Denver, Civil Action No. 09-cv-02930-

CMA-KLM, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 99164, at *36-37, (D. Colo. September 2, 2011) 

(stating, in analyzing a “42 U.S.C. 1981 claim through the remedies provided by 1983” 

that “a four-year statute of limitations applies” to claims that arise due to the 1991 

Amendment”); Allstate Sweeping, LLC v. City & County of Denver, 838 F. Supp. 2d 

                                                                                                                                                       
Supp. 2d 469, 477 (E.D. Pa. 2013) (finding that Jones’s “broad reading of [Section] 1658--that 
claims "made possible" by statutes enacted after 1990 should be subject to the four-year statute 
of limitations--compels the conclusion that § 1658 provides the applicable limitations period, 
because plaintiffs' [Section] 1981 claims [that were brought through Section 1983] were not 
available prior to 1990 and were only "made possible" by the Civil Rights Act of 1991);  Mveng-
Whitted v. Va. State Univ., 927 F. Supp. 2d 275, 278 (E.D. Va. 2013) (noting that the “weight of 
authority around the country supports the Eleventh Circuit’s reasoning” in Baker which was 
cited above in this footnote);  Rothrock v. Gorman, CIVIL ACTION NO. 3:12-CV-00241, 2013 
U.S. Dist. LEXIS 97883, at *14, (S.D. Tex. July 1, 2013) (stating that “the four-year statute of 
limitations that governs claims under section 1981 as amended by the Civil Rights Act of 1991 
applies in this case even though the claims were asserted through section 1983”); DeNigris v. 
New York City Health and Hospitals Corp., 861 F. Supp. 2d 185, 191-92 (S.D.N.Y. 2012) 
(stating that “[h]ere, to the extent Plaintiffs § 1981 and § 1983 claims seek recovery for 
discriminatory acts occurring in the course of her contractual relationship with Defendants, her 
cause of action was authorized by the 1991 amendment and the four-year federal catch-all statute 
of limitations will apply."); Moore v. City of Jackson, No. 3:10cv454-DPJ-FKB, 2011 U.S. Dist. 
LEXIS 80360, 2011 WL 3022525, at *6 (S.D. Miss. July 22, 2011) (holding that “that § 1658's 
four-year statute of limitations applie[d] to [Plaintiff’s Section] 1983 claim for [Section] 1981 
violations); Ortiz v. City of New York, 755 F. Supp. 2d 399, 407-08 (E.D.N.Y. 2010) (finding 
that under Jones’ definition of “arising under” for purposes of Section 1658, that a post-contract 
formation action under Section 1981 brought through Section 1983 arises under  Section 1981(b) 
and thus utilizes the Section 1658 four-year limitations period);  Knox v. City of Monroe, 551 F. 
Supp. 2d 504, 512 (W.D. La. 2008) (holding Section 1981(b) claims asserted through Section 
1983 subject to Section 1658’s limitation period); Thomas v. City of Shreveport, No. 06-1078, 
2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 69310, at *13 (W.D. La. Sept. 15, 2008) (holding Section 1981(b) claims 
asserted through Section 1983 subject to Section 1658’s limitation period). 
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1135, 1141-42  (D. Colo. 2011) (holding that “the four-year statute of limitations of 28 

U.S.C. § 1658 applies” in analyzing Section 1981 claims brought through Section 1983 

against the City and County of Denver and four employees of the same) (reversed on 

other grounds, 706 F.3d 1261).    

The County Defendants cited a series of cases to the contrary, but with the 

exception of Delatorre v. Minner, 238 F. Supp. 2d 1280 (D. Kansas 2002), none of such 

cases even marginally apply to this situation.  (See MTD at 9).   The County Defendants 

first cite Owens v. Okure, 488 U.S. 235, 249 – 50 (1989) for a proposition that Plaintiff 

does not dispute which is the general rule: that Federal courts must look to the 

applicable state statute of limitations to determine the timeliness of a claim under 42 

U.S.C. § 1983.  Given that Owens was (a) a police brutality case; that (b) did not involve 

Section 1981; and (c) occurred prior to Section 1658’s enactment, it is not a valid 

citation to the issue of whether Section 1658 creates a departure from the general rule 

regarding Section 1983’s limitations period in this case.  Next, the County Defendants 

cite Whitington v. Sokol, 491 F.Supp.2d 1012 (D. Colo. 2007) for the proposition that a 

Section 1983 claim has a two year limitations period in Colorado.   Similar to Owens, 

Whitington was yet another excessive force prisoner case that neither mentioned 

Section 1981 nor Section 1658. 

Even the County Defendants’ sole case which has some applicability to the facts at 

issue here, Delatorre, does not even address Section 1658.  It simply makes the 

cursory assumption, without further analysis, that the general rule of Section 1983 using 

the forum state’s personal injury statute of limitations applies to a Section 1981 claim 
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brought through Section 1983.  Delatorre at 1285.  Moreover, subsequent to Delatorre 

another case in the same District of Kansas took the time to analyze Section 1658 and 

concluded that a four-year statute of limitations applies to a Section 1981 claim brought 

through Section 1983.  Robinson v. City of Ark. City, 896 F. Supp. 2d 1020, 1041-42 (D. 

Kan. 2012). 

Accordingly, a Section 1981(b) claim brought through Section 1983 utilizes the four-

year statute of limitations found in Section 1658(a).  All of the allegations raised in the 

Complaint as violating Section 1981 occurred post-Contract formation.  Such facts 

occurred at the earliest in 2011, which is within Section 1658’s four-year-limitations 

period.  In fact, the Amended Complaint alleged that Randall was continuing to act in a 

retaliatory fashion against PEI at the time of the Amended Complaint’s filing.  (See 

Amended Complaint ¶ 72 (stating that “On information and belief, Defendant Randall 

has prevented the County from doing business with PEI after Martin Marietta or Lafarge 

terminated PEI’s Subcontract.”).  As such, PEI submits that this Court should reject the 

County Defendants’ argument that the claims brought by PEI are time barred.   

C) Plaintiff’s Claim Against The County Defendants In Their Individual Capacity 
Was Properly Brought Pursuant to Section 1981 
 
The County Defendants urge this Court to tread on ground where neither the 10th 

Circuit nor the Supreme Court have yet stepped.  Specifically, the County Defendants 

are asking that this Court make new law and rule that under Jett, a Section 1981 claim 

against any state actor must be brought solely through Section 1983, whether it is 

against the state actor in his official or individual capacity.  (See MTD at 7 (citing Jett v. 

Dallas Independent School District, 491 U.S. 701, 731-35 (1989). The Supreme Court in 
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Jett, however, did not deal with claims brought against a government official in his 

individual capacity.  See id. at 708 (stating that prior to appeal to the Fifth Circuit the 

Principal settled the claims against him and was “no longer a party to this action”).  

Instead, it dealt with claims against official governmental entities.  Moreover, even the 

County Defendants seem to concede that the “Tenth Circuit has not addressed the 

issue”.  (MTD at 7) (internal quotations omitted).  As such, the issue of whether Section 

1981 allows claims against government officials in their individual capacities, 

independent of Section 1983, is a question of first impression for this Court.  

The dissent in Jett, which received the votes of four Supreme Court Justices, 

provides ample reason why this Court should allow this Section 1981 claim to proceed 

independent of Section 1983, if necessary.  As the Brennan Dissent in Jett noted 

“[d]uring the period when § 1 of the 1866 Act was enacted, and for over 100 years 

thereafter, the federal courts routinely concluded that a statute setting forth substantive 

rights without specifying a remedy contained an implied cause of action for damages 

incurred in violation of the statute's terms.” (Id. at 742) (Brennan, dissenting).  In fact, 

the Brennan dissent comments that the “debate on [what became Section 1981] 

demonstrate that the legislators' worry was not that their actions would do too much, but 

that they would do too little.”  Id. at 743.  For these reasons, it “would be unreasonable 

to conclude that inferring a private cause of action from § 1981 is incompatible with 

Congress' intent.”  Id. at 744.  As such, PEI submits that its claims against the County 

Defendants in their individual capacities have been properly brought under Section 

1981. 
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D) To The Extent Plaintiff Has Not Stated Sufficient Claims For Relief It Asks For 
Leave To Amend Its Complaint To Provide Further Specificity 

 
Although PEI submits that its Amended Complaint fully satisfies the requirements of 

notice pleading, in the event that the Court is inclined to rule that Plaintiff’s complaint 

had insufficient specificity in its allegations, PEI respectfully requests the opportunity to 

further amend its Complaint pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. Pro. 15(a). As alluded to above, 

such further amendments would include altering Paragraph 29 to state that on 

information and belief the directive to have Lafarge sign the July 13, 2011 Letters came 

from Randall and/or Schmidt and would use Exhibit 1 to this Response as evidence of 

such belief.  (Email from Guerra to Schmidt, dated July 13, 2011, attached as Exhibit 1 

to this Response, which discusses the Cordova Complaint and stating that if the 

situation occurs again, PEI “will be removed from the [P]roject”.)  PEI would also insert, 

if the Court feels that greater specificity is required, a new Paragraph to state that on 

information and belief – including the fact that Schmidt (a) screamed and cursed at PEI 

official Greg Parker at a November 22, 2011 Weekly Construction Meeting; and (b) 

assaulted Greg Parker on or about December 6, 2011 – Schmidt participated in the 

decision to issue the December 12, 2011 Randall Letter. 

III. CONCLUSION 
 
PEI’s Amended Complaint timely alleges significant violations of law, with great 

factual specificity and significant documentation for support.  Accordingly, PEI 

respectfully requests that the Court deny the County Defendants’ MTD, or in the 
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alternative, grant it leave to further amend its Complaint which was only previously 

amended to merge the State Action with this litigation.    

 
Respectfully submitted this 26th day of September, 2014. 
 

SCHLUETER, MAHONEY & ROSS, P.C. 
 
 Original signature on file at the offices of 
 Schlueter, Mahoney & Ross, P.C. 
  
     
      /s/ Elliot Fladen     
      Elliot Fladen, Reg. No. 36784 
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